**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA**

**CASE NO. SC12-1386**

---

**STEVEN DOUGLAS HAYWARD,**

**Appellant,**

**v.**

**STATE OF FLORIDA,**

**Appellee.**

---

**ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT  
OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR  
SAINT LUCIE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA**

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

**PAUL KALIL  
Assistant CCRC-South  
Florida Bar No. 174114**

**ELIZABETH STEWART  
Staff Attorney  
Florida Bar No. 87450**

**OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL  
COLLATERAL REGIONAL  
COUNSEL-SOUTH  
1 East Broward Boulevard, Suite 444  
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301  
Tel. (954) 713-1284**

**COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT**

## **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

## STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

The Circuit Court for the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for St. Lucie County, Florida, entered the judgments of conviction and death sentence at issue in this case. On March 22, 2005, Hayward was charged by information with one count of second-degree murder, robbery with a firearm, burglary of a conveyance while armed and possession of a firearm or ammunition by a convicted felon. (R. 1) Those charges were *nolle prosequi* (R. 48) and Hayward was subsequently indicted on charges of first-degree murder, robbery with a deadly weapon, burglary of a conveyance while armed and possession of a firearm or ammunition by a convicted felon. (R. 3) The charges arose from the February 1, 2005 early morning robbery and shooting death of Daniel Destefano, was delivering newspapers to a Fort Pierce convenience store. Hayward was arrested several days later.

The Honorable Burton Conner, Circuit Judge, appointed the Office of the Public Defender to represent Hayward. (R. 10) Hayward, through the Public Defender, filed a Written Plea of Not Guilty. (R. 27) The Public Defender's Office moved to withdraw due to conflicts of interest regarding several individuals listed by the prosecution as potential witnesses. (R. 40) The court granted the motion to withdraw and appointed attorney Robert Udell to represent Hayward. (R. 52, 54) Through Attorney Udell, Hayward filed a written waiver of arraignment, plea of not guilty, and demand for jury trial. (R. 55) On May 11, 2005, the State filed its

Notice of Intent to Seek the Death Penalty. (R. 63)

Udell moved for the appointment of co-counsel (R. 66) and an investigator. (R. 69) Judge Connor *sua sponte*, ordered the transfer of Hayward's case to the Honorable James W. McCann. (R. 75) Judge Connor granted Hayward's motion to appoint co-counsel and motion for an investigator, and appointed attorney Jerome Stone, Jr., and investigator Venus Oleyourryk. (R. 76, 77) Stone was primarily appointed to do the penalty phase. (Supp. R. 102)

### **The Motion to Suppress**

At the suppression hearing, police officers testified that they went to Hayward's rooming house in response to a tip. (T. 69) There were multiple police officers present, at least one of whom was carrying a shotgun. (T. 51-55) Officer Mace testified that when police arrived, Hayward exited from a common bathroom. (T. 29) His left hand was bandaged. Hayward said his girlfriend, Dorothy Smith (who was also present at the rooming house) had stabbed him during an argument. Smith confirmed Hayward's story. Mace asked to see the wound and Hayward complied. (T. 31) Mace then asked Hayward to go to the station with him, ostensibly to talk to him about the injury to his hand. (T. 33) Mace assured Hayward that he was not under arrest, but he would have to handcuff him because it was the police department's policy to handcuff anyone who rode in the backseat of the police car, for officer safety. (T. 33-34) While being handcuffed,

Hayward stated, "I'm not gonna lie to you, but I did get shot in the hand." (T. 39) Officer Mace immediately communicated this statement to Detective Flaherty, who was still speaking with Smith. When she heard that Hayward had admitted being shot, she changed her story and told police that Hayward had been robbed and shot. (T. 49-50)

Mace testified that when they arrived at the detective bureau, he uncuffed Hayward and brought him to an interrogation room. (T. 36) At that point, Mace secured Hayward to the floor with an ankle bracelet to prevent him from trying to run. Detective Coleman and Detective Flaherty then read him *Miranda* and interrogated him, and he made several statements. (T. 37-38) He explained that he had been robbed by two men while trying to sell marijuana at the convenience store, and that he had been shot when he tried to take the gun away from one of the robbers. Then he said he had witnessed the victim, Destefano, being robbed and shot by a lone gunman. He said that he tried to pick up a gun left at the scene but it went off, shooting him in the hand. After giving this statement, Hayward was arrested for murder.

Mace testified that when they arrived at the detective bureau, he brought Hayward to an 8 x 10 interrogation room, uncuffed him, and secured him to the floor with an ankle bracelet to ensure that he would not flee. (T. 36-38) Detective Coleman read from the *Miranda* form which was signed by Hayward but not

introduced into evidence at the hearing. (T. 1737) Coleman asked, “Are you willing to answer some questions?” Hayward’s response was recorded by the court reporter as “(inaudible).” (T. 1745) The detectives asked Hayward how he was doing, and he said he was cold. Detective Coleman said they would do something about it, after they “[g]et this stuff out of the way.” (T. 1743) Hayward told the officers multiple times that he was in pain throughout the interrogation, and although they were well aware that he was in pain, they did nothing to help him. (T. 1751, 1782, 1821) A few minutes into the interrogation, Detective Flaherty commented that it looked like the bullet might still be in Hayward’s hand. (T. 1821-22) When Hayward asked to make a telephone call (“I need to call . . . somebody, man.”), Flaherty replied, “Okay. All right. But...just let’s get through this first.” (T. 1784) Hayward repeated his requests multiple times, and the officers replied by saying, “I want to hear your story first though, and then I’ll let you use the phone.” (T. 1784-1787) Later, Hayward asked for a pain pill, to which the police responded, “we’ll take care of you . . . Get this off your shoulders, man.” (T. 1821)

On cross-examination, defense counsel questioned the officer about the department’s policy regarding handcuffing anyone who rides in a police vehicle:

UDELL: And that policy comes to you how, how do you know about that policy?

MACE: It’s written in our POP, our policy from police

department. Anybody that travels in our vehicle in the back seat will be secure.

UDELL: If one reviewed that, that would be in there?

MACE: Yes, sir.

UDELL: Okay. I believe you.

(T. 40-1)

### **The Guilt Phase**

The crime occurred before dawn on February 1, 2005. Roosevelt McDowell, a tenant at a nearby rooming house, testified that he heard two small gunshots and someone hollering “I don’t have no more. I don’t have no more” at around 3 or 4:30 a.m. (T. 1518-20) About 10 or 15 minutes later he heard one big gunshot. (T. 1519-20) McDowell looked outside and saw a car (identified as Destefano’s) at a convenience store with the driver’s door and the hood open. (T. 1521-23) A “Mexican guy” was standing or down on one knee, and a black man with dreadlocks was standing nearby. (T. 1523-25) The black man then walked by the Mexican to the light, looking at his hand. (T. 1526) The Mexican got up and walked across the street, limping a little bit and holding his side, and McDowell did not see him again. (T. 1526, 1529) The black man tried to wrap his own hand, which was leaking something, and went around behind a building. (T. 1528, 1535) The black man was wearing a hat and not a stocking cap. (T. 1537, 1539)

Officer Grecco testified that he received a dispatch at 4:15 and arrived two

minutes later. (T. 1483) He encountered Destefano about 200 yards from the crime scene. (T. 1484) Destefano looked hurt. He breathing shallow, almost like a pant, was bleeding, and looked afraid. (T. 1513) Destefano said he had been shot and where. (T. 1486) EMTs arrived and began treating him. (T. 1487) They shoed Grecco away as they worked on Destefano, but, before they took him away, Grecco got a statement about what he had been doing. (T. 1487-88) Grecco asked Destefano what had happened and Destefano said he was delivering newspapers and a black male with a black stocking cap over his face had run up and attempted to rob him; the man shot him and he attempted to shoot back; he didn't believe he shot the man; Destefano had a .357 and didn't know what happened to it. (T. 1513-14) Destefano's fiancée testified he had a silver pistol for protection when delivering papers. (T. 1462-63)

Police recovered several items apparently taken from the car, and a trail of blood around the car and away from the scene. (T. 1580- 1608, 1618-26, 1674) A criminalist testified that the items and blood on Destefano's pants and Hayward's hooded jacket contained DNA which matched Hayward. (T. 1939-52) The criminalist said that it was just as good a hypothetical as any other that Hayward's blood got on Destefano when Hayward contacted Destefano's body after seeing somebody else shoot and rob him. (T. 1957) Officers found no gun or casings at the scene, which was consistent with use of a revolver. (T. 1609-11)

The medical examiner testified that Destefano died from a gunshot to the chest. Destefano also had a gunshot to the left thigh; the bullet traveled horizontally and lodged against the femur. (T. 1628) The medical examiner could not tell the sequence of the shots. (T. 1620)

Officer John Robinson testified that, a few months after Hayward's arrest, when the common laundry room in Smith's rooming house was renovated, a black .22 caliber revolver was found behind a board covering a vent in the wall. (T. 1976-78, 2012) Hayward's blood was discovered inside the gun's firing chambers. (T. 2030-31) This gun was identified as this as the murder weapon.

### **The penalty phase**

At the penalty phase, the State presented evidence and testimony regarding Hayward's 1988 convictions for second-degree murder and two counts of armed robbery. (T. 2389-2438) Destefano's mother, sister and fiancée gave victim impact testimony.

The defense presented four family witnesses at the penalty phase. Terrence Hayward told the jury that Steven was about five years younger than him and that Steven had five older siblings. Steven had a different father than the other children but they were all raised together under the same roof, in the same environment. (T. 2463) The children were raised by Terrance's father, Harold Hayward. Terrance and Steven were close and did things together as brothers. (T. 2467) When Steven

was five, Harold Hayward left the family and Tony Johnson, Steven's alcoholic biological father, moved in. (T. 2465-6)

Theresa Williams testified that she is Steven's older sister. (T. 2469) Theresa testified that Harold Hayward was not Steven Hayward's father. Although a father figure to Steven, "he wasn't there all the time because he worked out of town." (T. 2471) Theresa stated that her parents did not physically or sexually abuse Steven. Steven's biological father was an alcoholic. Because her father and Steve's father were not around, their mother had to work two jobs and Theresa had to take care of the kids. Theresa explained she punished Steven, but that she "didn't break his bones." (T. 2475)

Debra Fluery testified that Harold Hayward was unable to provide parental support. Her mother worked two jobs to support the family and that she provided a good clean home. (T. 2477-8) Fleury agreed with trial counsel Udell's characterization that "once in a while [Theresa] had to give him [Steven] a whooping. Sounds about right?" (T. 2479) Fleury left the house to join the military when Steven was about 13 or 14. She remembered Steven as a hard headed boy who ran in the streets. She explained that she was not in the same situation as Steven because she liked school and set goals for herself. (T. 2481)

Barbara Johnson, Steven's mother, testified that Steven was her youngest of six children, though she also raised a nephew. The family first lived in a rental

home and later in a home Johnson purchased. (T. 2484) Barbara's first husband, Harold, loved Steven. Harold and Barbara separated when Steven was five years old. Tony Johnson, Steven's biological father, then moved in with the family. Steven left the house when he was 14 years old. (T. 2487) He did not do well in school and Barbara tried to get help for him but she "couldn't afford to get him the help he needed." (T. 2487) Barbara confirmed that Tony was an alcoholic. (T. 2488) Barbara confirmed that most of her children were successful but that "there was something about Steven that you just couldn't get there." (T. 2489)

Psychologist Dr. Michael Reardon testified that Hayward had the potential to be rehabilitated because he had shown an ability to focus on learning despite his low average IQ (91), as exemplified by his attainment of a GED while in prison for the first murder. In prison, Hayward had made license plates and worked in other areas. (T. 2450-54)

The jury, by vote of 8-to-4, recommended that Hayward be sentenced to death. (T. 2601) At the conclusion of the penalty phase of the trial the court scheduled a *Spencer*<sup>1</sup> hearing for April 27, 2007. (PCR. 2704) However, on the day of the *Spencer* hearing, Udell informed the court that "we don't intend to present any evidence additional to that which you heard at the penalty phase." (T. 2617) Instead, Hayward argued *pro se* his own "motion for new trial." (T. 2626-2664)

---

<sup>1</sup> *Spencer v. State*, 615 So. 2d 688, 690-91 (Fla. 1993).

On May 3, 2007 the court conducted a hearing whereby the court expressed concern regarding the status of the *Spencer* hearing. (T. 2705) Both parties then advised the court that they intended on conducting the *Spencer* hearing on the day of the sentencing, immediately before the court announced the sentence. (2714, 2719) After the court expressed concern again about conducting a *Spencer* hearing on the actual day of sentencing, Udell explained that he did not plan on calling any witnesses to testify: “It will just be Mr. Hayward’s mom and sister pleading to the court. It’s not testimony. It’s not going to be evidence. It’s not offered in mitigation. It’s elocution.” (T. 2719-20, 2734) Udell then assured the court that he knew what the witnesses were going to say, which would be limited to “we love our son, we love our brother,” and “[d]o not give Steven the death penalty.” (T. 2721) Out of caution, the court again rescheduled the hearing, for a third time, as a “supplemental” *Spencer* hearing to be conducted on May 16, 2007. (T. 2737)

At the May 16, 2007 hearing, Udell advised the court that Hayward’s family members were present, and:

[T]hey’re going to be very brief, and the truth is, Judge, I don’t even consider it a *Spencer* Hearing. I know you – you’re calling it a subsequent [sic] *Spencer* Hearing.

It’s just like the victim’s family is going to have some words to say. This is the person who’s about to be sentenced, mom and daughter – mom and sister who are going to say, Judge, don’t kill our son, don’t kill our brother.

I understand you’re just trying to make sure all of his, meaning

Steven's rights have been protected, so let's do it in the sense of formal testimony.

(T. 2757) The court again expressed concern, explaining to counsel the purpose of the *Spencer* hearing. (T. 2757-2758)

At the *Spencer* hearing Debra Fleury testified:

When we were here and my sister and brother was here and they testified as to what they had to say, things were not said. They're embarrassed. But the Court need to know that my family was not the Huxtables and weren't the Cleavers. We were totally different. We were I would say dysfunctional.

When I say that, my oldest brother, his name is Derrick, he's 46, he's in prison in Waycross, Florida – I mean Waycross, Georgia, for armed robbery. This is my oldest brother.

And then my baby brother, he's here now facing the murder charges. Both of them have different fathers from the kids that are in the middle which is just my brother Terrence, my sister Theresa, and my brother Leon and myself.

My brother Leon is somewhere in the State of Florida, he's also in prison. He has a drug problem. On more occasions than I want to open up to, he has written checks, he's wiped out my mother's account at least twice.

My sister who is here, she's also recovering drug addict. She can't live here in Fort Pierce because of her drug problems.

My brother that was here that we talked about that's in the military, he was doing good when he went in the military and then he went to Saudi Arabia, and when he came back he was not the same. And then we found out that he was on drugs, and then he was discharged from the military and it got worse, he ended up being on crack, so he's been arrested.

So out of the six of us that my mother had, five of my brothers and sisters, all of them have been in jail or – or are in prison

right now, or are in a drug rehab where they cannot function as normal people in society. When I say that, I mean they don't have their homes, they don't have their kids. They're doing the best they can with what they have to do.

When Bakkedahl was saying that he was making bad decisions, I'm sure they were bad decisions, but growing up as we did you had to either fight or run, and I was the knee baby, the child between my brother and the rest of them so I didn't have many problems because I was a girl and I'm four years difference in age than him. But my older brothers and sister, they were a little rougher. Heavy handed. They would fight. My sister and my brother would fight.

\*.\*.\*

We had a hard life. As my mother said, she did the best she could, and we tried to raise each other. Our father was not there the ma—our real father was not there the majority of our life.

But my brother's father, Steven's father was there more than my real father, and he was not a model figure to raise children. I mean, he had his own issues, and he had some anger problems and he was an alcoholic. So he didn't bond with us, but he didn't give us any problems, but he wasn't a father figure. So we didn't have a figure and our mother who refused to put us on – on welfare, she worked those two jobs to keep from being that way.

So that's one of the – I don't know if that's a mitigating factor for my brother, but he didn't have a normal – when Bakkedahl was saying he made bad decisions, that everybody in our family was so great, that was not true. That's not the truth. That statement of my family, the true statement is that we are very dysfunctional.”

(T. 2763-67) Barbara Johnson, Hayward's mother, also testified at the *Spencer* hearing. (T. 2758-61)

The trial court followed the jury's recommendation and sentenced Hayward

to death. (T. 2880-2884) Hayward timely appealed<sup>2</sup> to this court, which affirmed the conviction and death sentence. *Hayward v. State*, 24 So. 3d 17 (2009), *cert. denied*, *Hayward v. Florida*, 130 S. Ct. 2385 (Fla. 2010).

### **Postconviction Proceedings**

The Office of the Capital Collateral Regional Counsel–Southern Region (“CCRC-South”) was appointed to represent Hayward in postconviction proceedings upon the issuance of the Mandate December 30, 2009. On March 15, 2010, Hayward filed a Motion to Disqualify the Office of the State Attorney for the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit alleging that the Office of the State Attorney’s misconduct violated Hayward’s rights to attorney-client confidentiality and

---

<sup>2</sup> On direct appeal, Hayward raised the following issues: (1) the statements of the murder victim to police describing his attacker were improperly admitted under the excited utterance and dying declaration exceptions to the hearsay rule, and in violation of the Confrontation Clause; (2) introduction of statements to police at the rooming house and their observations while there violated his Fourth Amendment rights; (3) introduction of the recorded jail conversations between Hayward and his girlfriend were more prejudicial than probative due to the vulgarity of the language used, affecting both the guilt and penalty phases; (4) comments made by the prosecutor in closing argument during the penalty phase comparing the life choices made by the victim and Hayward constituted prosecutorial misconduct requiring resentencing; (5) there was insufficient evidence concerning the identity of the shooter; (6) there was insufficient evidence as to whether a robbery was actually accomplished; (7) there was insufficient evidence establishing premeditation; (8) the standard jury instruction on premeditation is insufficient; (9) Florida’s sentencing scheme is unconstitutional under the United States Supreme Court’s decision in *Ring v. Arizona*, 536 U.S. 584, 122 S. Ct. 2428, 153 L.Ed.2d 556 (2002); and (10) imposition of a death sentence based on an 8-to-4 jury recommendation is unconstitutional.

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