TGEGKGF."3444235"39-45-55."Lqj p"C0Vqo culpq."Erntm"Uwr tgo g'Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC12-1386

STEVEN DOUGLAS HAYWARD

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA

APPELLEE

.....
ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL
CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR SAINT LUCIE COUNTY, FLORIDA,
(CRIMINAL DIVISION)
.....

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI
Attorney General
Tallahassee, FL

Leslie T. Campbell
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No.: 0066631
1515 N. Flagler Dr.; Ste. 900
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
Telephone (561) 837-5000
Facsimile (561) 837-5108
E-mail:

Leslie.Campbell@MyFloridaLegal.com

Secondary E-mail:

CapApp@MyFloridaLegal.com

Counsel for Appellee

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

Turning to the *Brady/Giglio* claim arising from Ofc. Mace's testimony, relief was denied properly. The fact that Ofc. Mace erroneously believed there was a written policy for cuffing persons during transportation does not become exculpatory evidence, especially where Fort Pierce officers are trained that for their safety they should cuff persons being transported in

their cruisers. (PCR.26 1091-94). As with the prejudice prong of *Strickland*, Hayward must show that the result of the proceeding would have been different had Ofc. Mace been impeached with the fact that there was no written policy, only a training policy to handcuff those placed in the back of a police car. Again, Hayward was told that he was being cuffed for officer safety and that he was not under arrest. The fact that there is no written policy does not call into question Hayward's spontaneously offered statement that he was shot in the hand, and not stabbed by his girlfriend. Hayward has not carried his burden under *Brady* and relief must be denied.

While the record reflects that there is no written policy for cuffing passengers, Hayward did not call Ofc. Mace to establish that he was not being truthful when he reported there was a written policy especially in light of the training provided by Captain Kirk. The record is also clear that Fort Piece officers are trained to cuff those they transport in the back of the police cruisers and that this is for officer safety. As with the *Brady* analysis, the State has shown that the result of the suppression hearing would not have been different. The unwritten policy was in place and the information given to Hayward regarding why he was being cuffed did not change; although he was not under arrest, he was being handcuffed for

officer safety.¹⁶ The State has carried its burden under *Giglio* to show the mis-statement was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Regardless of whether the State had Hayward's spontaneous statement that he was shot instead of stabbed, there remained Hayward's post-*Miranda* statements to that effect and the plethora of evidence placing Hayward at the scene and committing the murder, robbery, and burglary of Daniel Destefano. See *Hayward*, 24 So.3d at 24-26, 33-37 (setting out factual findings and harmless error analysis related to suppression issue conducted on direct appeal)

ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT'S SUMMARY DENIAL OF CLAIMS OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL DURING THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS, TRIAL, AND PENALTY PHASES WAS PROPER. (restated)

Here, Hayward asserts the summary denial of three claims was error. He maintains that he should have received an evidentiary hearing on his claims: (a) that penalty phase counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the prosecutor's penalty phase closing argument (IB 74-76) and (b) that counsel was ineffective at: (1) the suppression hearing for failing to investigate and argue Hayward's statements at the police station

¹⁶ A reasonable man would not have acted differently had he known that the FPPD cuffing policy was merely an unwritten policy which was part of officer training and not a written policy. Such does not enter into the calculus when an officer informs a reasonable man he is not under arrest, but being cuffed for officer safety reasons only.

were coerced and was not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily made¹⁷ (IB 76-81), and (2) the guilt phase for failing to effectively challenge: (i) Roosevelt McDowell on competency to testify grounds or on cross-examination; (ii) Dorothy Smith on competency to testify based on her alleged mental illness. (IB at 81-84). Hayward also raises a cumulative error argument. (IB at 84-85). The trial court denied these claims summarily as they either were procedurally barred having been raised and rejected on direct appeal, thus no prejudice could be shown, or were legally insufficient as pled. Such rulings are supported by the record and should be affirmed.

Standard of Review for Summarily Denied Claims - In *Lucas*

v. State, 841 So. 2d 380, 388 (Fla. 2003), this Court stated:

To uphold the trial court's summary denial of claims raised in a 3.850 motion, the claims must be either facially invalid or conclusively refuted by the record. Further, where no evidentiary hearing is held below, we must accept the defendant's factual allegations to the extent they are not refuted by the record.

See also, *State v. Coney*, 845 So. 2d 120, 134-35 (Fla. 2003); *Peede v. State*, 748 So. 2d 253, 257 (Fla. 1999). Also, "[t]o support summary denial without a hearing, a court must either state its rationale in its decision or attach those specific parts of the record that refute each claim presented in the

¹⁷ This was raised as Claim IV(B)(iii) and (vi) in the amended motion for postconviction relief. (PCR.6 869-75, 877-78)

motion." *McLin v. State*, 827 So.2d 948, 954 (Fla. 2002) (quoting *Anderson v. State*, 627 So.2d 1170, 1171 (Fla. 1993)). Additionally, a defendant is not entitled to relief on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel where there has been an earlier appellate court finding that an unpreserved error did not rise to the level of fundamental error. See *White v. State*, 559 So. 2d 1097, 1099-1100 (Fla. 1990) (rejecting ineffective assistance of counsel claim regarding counsel's failure to preserve issues for appeal in postconviction appeal based upon earlier finding by court on direct appeal that unpreserved alleged errors would not constitute fundamental error)

Penalty Phase Counsel's Failure to Object to the Prosecutor's Closing Argument Did Not Amount to Strickland Prejudice - Hayward asserts that trial court erred in finding no prejudice was shown arising from penalty phase counsel's failure to object to the prosecutorial argument comparing the victim's life choices to Hayward's life choices. The trial court's summary denial of the claim was proper because on direct appeal this Court determined the life choice comparison argument, while improper, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

After noting that on direct appeal this Court had determined that the challenge to State's penalty phase closing argument was unpreserved, but did not rise to the level of

fundamental error, *Hayward*, 24 So.3d at 40-43,¹⁸ the trial court rejected the claim of ineffective assistance. It concluded that given that the error was not fundamental, "Hayward is unable to now prove prejudice under *Strickland*. See *White v. State*, 559 So. 2d 1097, 1099-1100 (Fla. 1990)." (PCR.15 at 2237). Hayward suggests that trial court erred because it found that "Hayward had failed to claim prejudice." (IB at 76) This is a misinterpretation of the trial court's order. As noted above, the trial court rejected the claim because there had been an earlier appellate court finding that the unpreserved error did not rise to the level of fundamental error, thus, *Strickland* prejudice could not be established. (PCR.15 at 2237).

A defendant is not entitled to relief on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel where there has been an earlier appellate court finding that an unpreserved error did

¹⁸ On direct appeal, this Court found that counsel failed to object to the comparison the prosecutor drew between the victim's and Hayward's life choices and reviewed the matter for fundamental error *Hayward*, 24 So.3d at 40. This Court found that although "the victim impact evidence itself was proper, the prosecutor's use of it in his closing argument-comparing the choices made by the victim and those made by Hayward-was improper." *Id.* at 41. However, when considered "in the context of the entire closing argument and in light of the evidence presented in the penalty phase" and "given the strength of the evidence against Hayward and the gravity of the aggravators" *Id.* at 42 it could not "say that the jury would not have recommended a death sentence or that the trial court would not have imposed a death sentence if the prosecutor had not made the improper victim impact comparison." *Hayward*, 24 So.3d at 42-43.

not rise to the level of fundamental error. See *White*, 559 So.2d at 1099-1100. See also, *Lowe v. State*, 2 So.3d 21, 38 (Fla. 2008) (finding “[b]ecause the Court found no fundamental error [on direct appeal], Lowe fails to demonstrate that counsel's failure to object to the comments resulted in prejudice sufficient to undermine the outcome of the trial under *Strickland*.”); *Chandler v. State*, 848 So.2d 1031, 1046 (Fla. 2003) (recognizing “[b]ecause Chandler could not show the comments were fundamental error on direct appeal, he likewise cannot show that trial counsel's failure to object to the comments resulted in prejudice sufficient to undermine the outcome of the case under the prejudice prong of the *Strickland* test.”); *Teffeteller v. Dugger*, 734 So.2d 1009, 1019 (Fla. 1988) (finding defendant failed to meet prejudice prong of *Strickland* on issue that counsel failed to adequately argue case below given that it was rejected without discussion); *Cherry v. State*, 659 So. 2d 1069, 1072 (Fla. 1995). Here, this Court determined that the unpreserved error was not fundamental error. *Hayward*, 24 So.3d at 42-43. As a result, the trial court's summary denial was proper as Hayward is unable to prove prejudice under *Strickland*.

Counsel's Representation at the Suppression Hearing Was Not Ineffective - In summarily denying Hayward's claim that counsel ineffectively litigated the motion to suppress, the trial court

quoted this Court's entire analysis for the suppression issue raised on appeal (PCR.15 2231-36) after which it concluded: "that except for the alleged factual disputes concerning the extent of police presence at the rooming house and the police transport handcuff policy,¹⁹ the merits of the suppression and probable cause issues were already raised and rejected on direct appeal. Consequently, the Defendant cannot now show prejudice, thus these claims are summarily denied." (PCR.15 2236) Such was proper as Hayward was doing nothing more than attempting to obtain a second suppression hearing review under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel. It is inappropriate to use a different argument, such as ineffective assistance of counsel, to re-litigate the same issue. *Medina v. State*, 573 So. 2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990) (holding "[a]llegations of ineffective assistance cannot be used to circumvent the rule that postconviction proceedings cannot serve as a second appeal"). Moreover, even if this Court concludes the procedural bar should not apply, Hayward is not entitled to relief as he unable to prove *Strickland* deficiency and prejudice given that this Court found on direct appeal the statements were admitted properly.

On direct appeal, this Court examined "the evidence of Hayward's statements made both at the rooming house and at the police station, as well as the observations made by the police

¹⁹ An evidentiary hearing was granted on these claims.

at the rooming house, to determine if introduction of any of the evidence violated Hayward's constitutional rights." *Hayward*, 24 So.3d at 34. Here, Hayward is challenging counsel's representation related to the statements made at the police station only. (See IB at 76-84)

On direct appeal, Hayward challenged the statements he made at the police station while chained to the floor. (PCR.8 1261-PCR.9 1277 - Hayward's Initial Brief on Direct Appeal pages 50-67). In rejecting the issue, this Court looked at each encounter Hayward had with the police from the time he exited the bathroom at his rooming house to the statement he gave at the police station and considered "whether there was probable cause to detain him and whether his Fourth Amendment rights were violated during any of these police encounters." *Hayward*, 24 So.3d at 35. This Court found that "Hayward's initial encounter with the police inside Smith's rooming house was consensual."

Id. Next, this Court reasoned:

... when Hayward and Officer Mace stepped outside while Detective Flaherty and Smith spoke, this action was not a detention. Further, since a crime had allegedly been committed against Hayward by Smith (i.e., that Smith had stabbed him), Officer Mace's subsequent request that Hayward come to the station to discuss "the cut" was not a detention.

Hayward, 24 So.3d at 35-36.

With respect to Hayward's admissions while being handcuffed outside the rooming house, this Court determined that:

Although Hayward was in the process of being handcuffed pursuant to police policy at the time of his statement, the totality of the circumstances, including the purpose of the officer's conduct and the spontaneous nature of Hayward's statement, demonstrate that his statement was not the result of any alleged illegal detention.

Hayward, 24 So.3d at 36. Further, the statement at the police cruiser was found to be "clearly spontaneous and voluntary and thus not the product of interrogation." *Id.*

Turning to the statements Hayward made at the police station after he was given his *Miranda* warning and while secured by ankle cuffs to the floor, the record reflects that at the suppression hearing, counsel asserted that all of Hayward's statements should be suppressed as the constitutional impropriety began at the rooming house. Hayward asserted he was coerced by police action and detained illegally, and as a result all of his statements should be suppressed. (ROA.11 76-81). On direct appeal, those arguments were raised again, along with a claim that probable cause for his detention was never established. Specific to the statements at the police station, Hayward asserted that his confession was obtained improperly due to his illegal detention and shackling to the floor. Also, he challenged the reliance placed on the cases the prosecutor had argued during the suppression hearing. (PCR.8 1257 - PCR.9 1277 - Hayward's Initial Brief on Direct Appeal pages 46-67).

On direct appeal, this Court reasoned that while

"detained", Hayward's "statements were properly admitted into evidence because they were made after he had been advised of his *Miranda* rights and after he indicated that he wished to proceed with the questioning." *Hayward*, 24 So.3d at 36-37. Also, this Court rejected "Hayward's contention that the police did not have probable cause to detain or arrest him, had they actually chosen to do so at the rooming house" and found "the police had reasonable grounds, and therefore probable cause, to conclude that a felony had been committed and that Hayward had committed it." *Id.* at 37.

This Court thoroughly reviewed Hayward's statements, thus, he is not permitted to re-litigate the matter under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel. *State v. Riechmann*, 777 So.2d 342, 353, n.14 (Fla. 2000) (finding claims procedurally barred because defendant was couching them in terms of ineffective assistance when they had been raised and rejected on direct appeal); *Medina*, 573 So.2d at 295 (holding "[a]llegations of ineffective assistance cannot be used to circumvent the rule that postconviction proceedings cannot serve as a second appeal"); *Harvey v. Dugger*, 656 So.2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1995) (concluding claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to make several arguments in support of suppressing defendant's confession was procedurally barred).

Moreover, summary denial was proper because *Strickland*

prejudice could not be proven given this Court's review and findings on direct appeal that the statements at the rooming house, outside the rooming house, and in the police station were admitted properly. See *Lowe v. State*, 2 So.3d 21, 37-38 (Fla. 2008) (finding "[c]ounsel cannot be deemed ineffective when [defendant's] claim that his confession should have been suppressed and certain portions should not have been admitted into evidence was found to lack merit on direct appeal."); *Moore v. State*, 820 So.2d 199 (Fla. 2002) (holding that "claim under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel was procedurally barred" because underlying claim of prosecutorial misconduct was raised and found meritless on direct appeal); *Hardwick v. Dugger*, 648 So.2d 100 (Fla. 1994) (recognizing issues that were raised on direct appeal are procedurally barred and cannot be raised in a postconviction motion); *Teffeteller*, 734 So.2d at 1019 (finding that defendant had failed to meet prejudice prong of *Strickland* on issue that counsel failed to adequately argue case below given that the issue was rejected without discussion)

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